

University of Tennessee, Knoxville TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange

Masters Theses

Graduate School

12-2018

AN INVESTIGATION OF THE EFFECTS OF CORRINOID STRUCTURE ON THE METHANOGENESIS PATHWAY IN *METHANOSARCINA BARKERI* STRAIN *FUSARO*

Amanda Marie Kennedy University of Tennessee

Follow this and additional works at: https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_gradthes

Recommended Citation

Kennedy, Amanda Marie, "AN INVESTIGATION OF THE EFFECTS OF CORRINOID STRUCTURE ON THE METHANOGENESIS PATHWAY IN *METHANOSARCINA BARKERI* STRAIN *FUSARO*." Master's Thesis, University of Tennessee, 2018. https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_gradthes/5366

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. For more information, please contact trace@utk.edu.

To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a thesis written by Amanda Marie Kennedy entitled "AN INVESTIGATION OF THE EFFECTS OF CORRINOID STRUCTURE ON THE METHANOGENESIS PATHWAY IN *METHANOSARCINA BARKERI* STRAIN *FUSARO*." I have examined the final electronic copy of this thesis for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science, with a major in Life Sciences.

Frank Loeffler, Major Professor

We have read this thesis and recommend its acceptance:

Qiang He, Karen Lloyd, Jerry M. Parks

Accepted for the Council: Dixie L. Thompson

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records.)

AN INVESTIGATION OF THE EFFECTS OF CORRINOID STRUCTURE ON THE METHANOGENESIS PATHWAY IN METHANOSARCINA BARKERI STRAIN FUSARO

A Thesis Presented for the Master of Science Degree The University of Tennessee, Knoxville

> Amanda Marie Kennedy December 2018

Copyright © 2018 by Amanda K. All rights reserved.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am incredibly grateful to my family and my husband for supporting me through the trials and tribulations of pursuing my master's degree at The University of Tennessee in the Genome Science and Technology Program.

I would also like to extend thanks to my advisor, Frank Loeffler, for the support of my research during my time at UT. Other than my advisor, I owe great thanks to my committee members, Jerry Parks, Karen Lloyd, and Qiang He for their guidance and mentorship through this program.

I owe huge thanks to PEER (Program for Excellence and Equity in Research) for the financial support, mentorship, guidance, and extracurricular opportunities afforded to me. I would especially like to thank one of my PEER program members, Sarah Cooper, for her support, continued constructive feedback, and always making time to help edit my writing.

Of course, I also owe thanks to my incredibly supportive former and present lab members, who have always been there when I needed help with a technical problem, or troubleshooting various experiments.

ABSTRACT

Methane is responsible for at least 10% of greenhouse gas emissions in the United States alone, and although not the most abundant, it is one of the most dangerously potent greenhouse gases. Methanogens are microbial organisms that require a corrinoid cofactor to synthesize methane.

Previous work in bacteria has demonstrated that corrinoid mediated processes, such as methyl transfers, are directly influenced by the structure of the corrinoid cofactor^{1; 2; 3}. Individual organisms show bias or preference for one structure over another, with the sole difference being the lower ligand attached to the corrin ring⁴. Most organisms have a "preferred" corrinoid structure, and when this structure is not available, are forced to use an alternative corrinoid. In some cases, the alternative corrinoid can slow down the organisms metabolic process, while in other cases, the alternative corrinoid cannot be used at all. Availability of corrinoids and their precursors have serious implications on microbial metabolism, and the ability of a microbe to occupy its niche⁵.

In methanogenesis, the corrinoid enzyme complex involved in the methyl transfer varies based on the carbon starting material:

In the acetate and CO₂ pathways, the methyl group of methyltetrahydramethanopterin (methyl-H₄SPT) is transferred to an 8-subunit transmembrane protein. Subunit A contains the corrinoid prosthetic group.

In the methanol conversion pathway, the corrinoid cofactor is part of a cytoplasmic enzyme complex.

Unlike most organisms requiring corrinoid cofactors, methanogens can synthesize their own lower bases. However, if there are other lower bases present in the environment, they will use those instead. Due to the importance of corrinoid structure to microbial metabolism, we believe that corrinoid structure in methanogens could affect methanogenesis.

Synthetic lower bases could affect the ability of the corrinoid cofactor to properly bind to its enzyme/protein complex, thus affecting the ability for the remaining two steps of the methanogenesis pathway to occur. Finding a way to slow methane production has potential applications in the agricultural industry, which could lower our contributions to global warming.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter One Introduction and General Information	1
Corrinoid Role in Reductive Dechlorination	1
Methane and Methanogens	8
Corrinoids	9
Corrinoid Biosynthesis	.11
Corrinoid Uptake	.12
Corrinoid Remodeling	.12
Role of Corrinoids in Methanogenesis	.13
Chapter Two Does 5µM Lower Base Supplementation Impact Methane	
Production?	.15
Materials and Methods	.15
Chemicals	.15
Cultures	.15
Methane Measurements	.16
Methanol Measurements	.16
Acetate Measurements	.18
Corrinoid Extraction and Purification	.18
HPLC Analysis	.19
gPCR Assay	.19
Results – Methanol Experiments	.20
Methane Production and Methanol Consumption	.20
HPLC/Corrinoid Extraction Results	.22
Acetate Results	.24
Methane Production	.24
HPLC/Corrinoid Extraction	.25
CO2 Results	.27
Methane Production	.27
HPLC/Corrinoid Extraction	.28
qPCR Results	.30
Discussion	.32
Chapter Three Does 50µM Lower Base supplementation Affect	
Methanogenesis?	.33
Materials and Methods	.33
Chemicals	.33
Cultures	.33
Methane Measurements	.34
HPLC Analysis	.35
Methanol Results	.36
Methane Production	.36
Corrinoid Analysis	.38
Acetate Results	.40
Methane Production	.40

Corrinoid Analysis	42
Discussion	44
Chapter Four Conclusion	46
List of References	
Vita	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Dhc Corrinoid requirement.	3
Figure 2. General Corrinoid Structure.	4
Figure 3. Dhc dechlorination depends on corrinoid structure.	6
Figure 4. Methanogenesis Pathway.	10
Figure 5. Lower base structures	17
Figure 6 . Methane production and methanol consumption by 5 μ M lower base	
treatments	21
Figure 7. Corrinoids produced by cultures amended with 5µM lower base and 5	5
mM methanol.	23
Figure 8. Production of methane in cultures grown with acetate. Despite some cultures containing 5 µM lower base, there was no difference in methane	
production between the treatments	24
Figure 9. Corrinoids produced by cultures amended with 5µM lower base and 4 mM acetate.	40 26
Figure 10. Methane production of cultures grown with CO ₂ and 5μ M lower base	е. 27
Figure 11 . Corrinoids produced in cultures amended with CO_2 , H_2 and 5 μ M	
lower base.	29
Figure 12. Gene copies per experimental treatment.	31
Figure 13. Methane Production in Methanol and 50 µM Lower Base	37
Figure 14. (A) control, (B) 5,6-diBrbza, (C) 5-Clbza, (D) DMB.	39
Figure 15. Methane production in cultures amended with 40mM acetate and 50)
μM lower base.	41
Figure 16. HPLC Chromatograms of (A) Control, (B) DMB, (C) 5Clbza and (D)	
5,6Brbza treatments.	43

CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION AND GENERAL INFORMATION

Corrinoid Role in Reductive Dechlorination

Chlorinated solvents (e.g., chlorinated ethenes) are prevalent toxic groundwater contaminants, therefore, research groups have prioritized the remediation of contaminated groundwater sites ⁶. The goal of this work was to find the most efficient and cost-effective way to prevent human exposure to contaminated water.

Only *Dehalococcoides mccartyi* (*Dhc*) strains have been documented in complete detoxification of chlorinated ethenes to the harmless product ethene, making *Dhc* an important mediator in bioremediation of chlorinated hydrocarbons^{7; 8}. The corrinoid cofactor B12, or a closely related B12 analog, is required for growth in *Dhc*, and is an essential cofactor of reductive dehalogenases, which are the key enzymes catalyzing reductive dehalogenation reactions^{9; 10}. A variety of B12 analogs exist, generally differing by the structure of the lower ligand. In B12 the lower ligand is 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole (DMB) (Figure 2). Corrinoids are composed of three structural units: The upper ligand, the corrin ring, and the lower ligand (Figure 2). The central cobalt atom of the corrin ring is covalently tethered to the lower ligand via a nucleotide loop ¹¹. The main structural difference between the variety of known corrinoid cofactors is in their lower ligand, and a variety of these are found in nature, such as purines, phenolic compounds and benzamidazole bases ⁴.

1

Dhc cannot synthesize its own corrinoid and must rely on other microoganisms in the environment to produce and provide this cofactor⁹. A handful of microbes have the ability to synthesize corrinoids. However, the majority of microbes do not. In the absence of B_{12} synthesizing microorganisms *Dhc* can be supplemented with B_{12} to facilitate reductive dechlorination¹² (Figure 1).

Since *Dhc* is incapable of B₁₂ synthesis, it must acquire corrinoids produced by other organisms. However, previous research demonstrates that corrinoid structure significantly impacts dechlorination activity^{2; 12; 13}. *Dhc* shows a specific preference for the B₁₂ type corrinoid, and demonstrates reduced rates or incomplete dechlorination activity when supplemented with corrinoids containing a lower base other than DMB^{3; 13}. (Figure 3).



Figure 1. Dhc Corrinoid requirement.

Dhc requires corrinoids (ie. Vitamin B₁₂) in order to perform reductive dechlorination of cis-dichloroethene (cDCE) to ethene. When there is no B₁₂, there is no dechlorination. In the presence of sufficient (>25 μ g/L) quantities of B₁₂, cDCE is completely dechlorinated to non-toxic ethene. However, when B₁₂ is present, but not in a sufficient quantity(<25 μ g/L), there is incomplete dechlorination, leading to a toxic accumulation of vinyl chloride.

Figure 2. General Corrinoid Structure.

The general corrinoid structure comprises of three main components: (1) the corrin ring with a cobalt center, (2) the upper ligand (green X), and (3) and the lower base (blue). There are 16 naturally occurring lower bases, and their structures are shown in the shaded boxes.



Figure 3. *Dhc* dechlorination depends on corrinoid structure.

When *Dhc* is supplemented with B12, which has dimethylbenzimidazole (DMB) as its lower base, the highest rates of dechlorination are achieved. However, when *Dhc* cultures are supplemented with corrinoids composed of other lower bases, such as methylbenzimidazole (MeBza), or benzimidazole (Bza), dechlorination occurse at much slower rates.



Yan *et al.* 2016

Figure 3.

Methane and Methanogens

Dhc is not the only microbe possessing a corrinoid-dependent metabolic pathway. **Corrinoids are required by a wide variety of metabolisms, leading us to hypothesize that other organisms that require corrinoid cofactors may also show bias toward one type of corrinoid over others.** One particularly important area of interest for this research is the corrinoid-dependent production of methane by methanogens.

Methanogens carry out methanogenesis, a process estimated to be responsible for more than 10% of greenhouse gas emissions in the United States alone. Methane is estimated to be 25 times more impactful on climate change than the most abundant greenhouse gas, carbon dioxide ¹⁴.

Most methane emissions are a result of human activity, stemming from industry, agriculture and waste treatment sources. More than 20% of total methane emissions can be attributed to rumen enteric fermentation, mostly as a result of cattle farming ¹⁴. Microorganisms that produce methane within the rumen are called methanogens, which make up a diverse family of archaea. Methane production, or methanogenesis, is a complex metabolic pathway present only in methanogens. Methanogens can produce methane from several carbon compounds, such as carbon dioxide, methanol and acetate. Regardless of the substrates, all of the methanogenesis pathways intersect at one common step (boxed in red, Figure 4). This step is the methyl transfer step, which can be

8

divided into two sub-steps. First, the single carbon unit (methyl group) is transferred to a corrinoid cofactor. Then, the methyl group is transferred to coenzyme M, and subsequently reduced to methane ¹⁵. Since the methyl transfer step is conserved across all methanogens, it is a target in the methanogenesis pathway for studies designed to manipulate methanogenesis.

Corrinoids

The corrinoid-dependent methyl transfer step of methanogenesis is not unique to methanogens. Corrinoid-dependent reactions appear in a variety of metabolic processes in all three domains, yet corrinoids are only produced by a small group of prokaryotes^{16; 17}. Vitamin B₁₂ is a corrinoid cofactor in pathways such as methionine synthesis in humans, reductive dechlorination in the bacteria *Dehaloccocoides mccartyi*^{2; 18} and methanogenesis. An estimated 75% of bacteria have corrinoid dependent enzymes, but only half of these bacteria can produce corrinoids *de novo*^{19; 20}. Previous work in the human gut microbiome discovered that many bacteria have multiple copies of corrinoid transporters, and although they appear to be redundant, they have very distinct preferences for different corrinoids²¹. Corrinoids cannot be synthesized by eukaryotes, and must be ingested as a dietary component. In many cases, bacteria living in our body synthesize the vitamins we need for our metabolic processes, creating an important symbiotic host-microbiome relationship ^{22; 23; 24}.

9



Figure 4. Methanogenesis Pathway.

Methanogenesis pathway with various substrates. Boxed in red is the methyl transfer step. This step of the pathway is shared by all methanogens, regardless of their species, or starting carbon material. This symbiotic relationship also incites competition within the microbial community for selected corrinoids, as they can only be synthesized by a small subset of bacteria and archaea, but are a nutritional requirement for almost every organism on the planet ^{11; 21; 25}. Therefore, corrinoid cross-feeding is present in almost every system, and may be a result of the advantage of acquiring the metabolically expensive cofactors from the environment, as opposed to the lengthy ~30 step corrinoid biosynthetic pathway ^{26; 27}.

There are three ways an organism may obtain the corrinoids it needs. Corrinoids can be synthesized by the organism itself, but this method is limited to a small subset of the microbes. Another option is the selective import of corrinoid compounds into the cell, which allows microbes to take up corrinoids from its environment. The third option is remodeling of an existing corrinoid by the microorganism. Remodeling can occur in several ways; starting with the import of a whole corrinoid from the environment, or the uptake of corrinoid precursors. After importing a whole corrinoid, the organism can simply "remodel" the cofactor by removing the lower base and replacing it with a different one. The alternative option is to take up corrinoid precursors, then assemble them with the desired lower base. These lower bases may be synthesized by the organism or picked up from the environment.

Corrinoid Biosynthesis

The synthesis of vitamin B₁₂ involves the synthesis of individual pieces of the cofactor, followed by their assembly, which is commonly seen in the

biosynthesis of vitamins. The main component of vitamin B₁₂ is the corrin ring, which is synthesized from uroporphyrinogen III (UroIII), a precursor common to heme. After synthesis of the corrin ring, the central cobalt is added, followed by the addition of an aminopropanol side chain. Lastly, the lower ligand is added to the side chain to form a nucleotide loop that coordinates with the central cobalt center.

Corrinoid Uptake

Although selective transport of specific corrinoids in bacteria has not been explored, it may play a role in ensuring that bacteria take up the corrinoids they need for their metabolism. Corrinoid transporters are encoded in ~ 76% of bacterial genomes ²⁰. Previous work in the human gut microbiome revealed that many bacteria have multiple copies of corrinoid transporters, and although they appear to be redundant, they may have distinct preferences for different corrinoids ²⁸. Thus, it may advantageous to have multiple corrinoid transporter systems to allow selective uptake of preferred corrinoids based on the corrinoids present in the environment.

Corrinoid Remodeling

The alternative to selectively transporting corrinoids into the cell is corrinoid remodeling, or the removal of the lower ligand of an imported corrinoid and replacement with another lower ligand ²⁹. This strategy allows bacteria to take advantage of the already-assembled corrinoid structures available in the environment. This strategy is seen in *Dhc*, which requires corrinoids to perform

12

reductive dechlorination. *Dhc* can only use three types of corrinoid structures to successfully carry out its metabolic processes, so, even if the "preferred" corrinoid is not present in the environment, the bacteria are able to take up an existing corrinoid structure, and replace the lower ligand with one that *Dhc* can use ^{30; 31}. Corrinoid remodeling can also be performed by bacteria capable of producing corrinoids *de novo*²⁹. This strategy allows the corrinoid producers to save the energy they would expend in the long, metabolically expensive process of corrinoid biosynthesis. Allen and Stabler have observed this energy-saving behavior in the human gut, where changes in fecal corrinoid profiles differed prior to, and post-ingestion of cobalamin supplements ³².

Role of Corrinoids in Methanogenesis

Previous work in bacteria has demonstrated that mediated processes, such as methyl transfers, are directly influenced by the structure of the corrinoid cofactor ^{1;2}. Individual organisms show bias or preference for one type of cofactor over another, with the sole difference being the lower ligand attached to the corrin ring ⁴. Most organisms have a "preferred" corrinoid structure, and when this structure is not available, are forced to use a non-ideal corrinoid instead ^{1;2}. In some cases, a non-ideal corrinoid can slow down metabolic processes in the organism, while in other cases, the non-ideal corrinoid cannot be used at all. Availability of corrinoids and their precursors have serious implications on microbial metabolism, and the ability of a microbe to occupy its niche ⁵ Due to the importance of corrinoid structure in microbial metabolism, we hypothesize that the structure of the corrinoid cofactor produced by methanogens could have a direct impact on the rate of methanogenesis, as well as total methane production by the microbe. Therefore, if we supplement methanogens with a lower base, rather than "waste" the energy to manufacture the corrinoid lower base themselves, they will take up the supplemented lower base, and incorporate it into the corrinoid structure. The newly assembled synthetic corrinoid may impact the process of methanogenesis. If we are able to slow down, or reduce total methane production, lower base supplementation may be a solution to lower greenhouse gas emissions. However, if we are able to increase the rate of methanogenesis, or produce more methane, lower base supplementation could be used to generate more methane in a controlled setting for biogas applications.

CHAPTER TWO DOES 5µM LOWER BASE SUPPLEMENTATION IMPACT METHANE PRODUCTION?

Materials and Methods

Chemicals

5,6-dimethylbenzimidaole (DMB), 5-chlorobenzimidazole, and 5,6dibromobenzimidazole were purchased from Combi-blocks. Methanol was purchased from Sigma Aldrich.

Cultures

Pure *Methanosarcina barkeri* strain *fusaro* cultures were grown in 160 ml serum bottles with 50 ml of minimal salts medium with a vitamin B₁₂-free vitamin mix. Cultures were grown anoxically with a sodium bicarbonate buffer at pH 7.2 and 37 degrees Celsius. Minimal salt media is composed of (g/L): 1 g NaCl, 0.5 g MgCl₂ x H₂O, 0.2 g KH₂PO₄, 0.3 g NH₄Cl, 0.3 g KCl, 0.015 g CaCl₂ x 2H₂O. Trace element solution (per liter): 10 ml HCl (25% solution w/w), 1.5 g FeCl₂ x 4 H₂O, 0.19 g CoCl₂ x 6H₂O, 0.1 g MnCl₂ x 4 H₂O, 70 mg ZnCl₂, 6 mg H₃BO₃, 36 mg Na₂MoO₄ x 2 H₂O, 24 mg NiCl₂ x 6 H₂O, 2 mg CuCl₂ x 2 H₂O. Vitamin solution contains (mg/L): 0.02 biotin, 0.02 folic acid, 0.1 pyroxidine hydrochloride, 0.05 riboflavin, 0.05 thiamine, 0.05 nicotinic acid, 0.05 pantothenic acid, 0.05 *p*aminobenzoic acid, and 0.05 thioctic acid. Se/Wo solution includes (per L): 6 mg Na₂SeO₃ x 5 H₂O, 8 mg Na₂WO₄ x H₂O and 0.5 g NaOH. Gas phase was composed of H₂ and CO₂ (90/10). 0.1% resazurin solution was added at 0.25 ml/L medium. 30 mM sodium bicarbonate, 2 mM L-cysteine monohydrate and 0.048 g/L Sodium sulfide x 9H₂O were added. Either 40 mM acetate or 5mM methanol was added as electron donor. Sterile-filtered lower bases were added to a final concentration of 5 μ M (Figure 5). Treatments were set up in triplicates and included:

- (1) Control (no lower base added)(5OHbza)
- (2) 5,6-dibromobenzimidazole (5,6Brbza)
- (3) 5-chlorobenzimidazole (5Clbza)
- (4) 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole (DMB)

Methane Measurements

Methane production was measured at regular intervals with an Agilent 7890 gas chromatograph equipped with FID (flame ionization detector) and DB-624 capillary column (60 m x 0.32 mm x 1.8 μ m). 100 μ l headspace samples were withdrawn using disposable syringes and manually injected into a split injector with a split ratio of 2:1. The GC inlet was maintained at 200 °C, and the GC oven temperature was kept at 60 °C for 2 min then increased to 200 °C at a rate of 25 °C min–1, and the FID detector was operated at 280 °C as described as described by ³³.

Methanol Measurements

Consumption of methanol by methanogens to produce methane was measured via an autosampler attached to a gas chromatograph.



Figure 5. Lower base structures.

Lower base structures for each treatment. Each bottle contained 5 μ M concentration of one lower base.

Acetate Measurements

Acetate was analyzed using an Agilent 1200 series HPLC system including an Aminex HPX-87H column (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) and a UV detector at 210 nm. The column temperature was set to 30 °C, and the eluent (4 mM H₂SO₄) flowed at a rate of 0.6 mL min⁻¹. Samples for HPLC analysis were acidified to a final concentration of 4 mM H₂SO₄ prior to HPLC analysis.

Corrinoid Extraction and Purification

Cells were harvested to extract corrinoids and determine which corrinoids were produced by methanogens when supplemented with lower bases. The procedure was carried out as described by ³⁴. Cultures were centrifuged (Thermo Scientific sorcall Rc 6+) at 10,000 RPM for 20 minutes at 4°C. Supernatants were removed, and cell pellets were re-suspended in 5 ml deionized water. pH was then adjusted to 5-6 with 3% glacial acetic acid and 10 mM KCN, and boiled for 20 min in a water bath. Following the water bath, cultures were centrifuged again for 20 minutes at 10,000 RPM. Supernatants were collected, and cell pellet was extracted again. Supernatant fluids were combined and mixed with 0.01 volumes of acetic acid, then loaded into Sep-Pak C18 cartridges. Cartridges were first equilibrated with 2 ml of pure methanol and 60ml deionized water. Supernatant was pushed through column, and corrinoids were collected by washing the column with 3ml pure methanol, and collecting the pink-colored fluid to be vacuum dried. After vacuum drying was complete, samples were resuspended in 0.3 ml sterile deionized water in preparation for HPLC analysis.

HPLC Analysis

Analysis of corrinoids was performed with an Agilent 1200 series HPLC system equipped with an Eclipse XDB-C18 column (5 mm, 4.6 × 250 mm) and a diode array detector set at a detection wavelength of 361 nm. Samples were injected and separated at a flow rate of 1 mL per min at 30°C using 0.1% (v/v) formic acid (\geq 88%, w/v) in water (eluent A) and 0.1% (v/v) formic acid in methanol (eluent B) as mobile phases. The column was equilibrated with 82% eluent A / 18% eluent B, and a linear change to 75% A / 25% B was applied after sample injection over a time period of 12 minutes. Eluent composition then decreased immediately to 25% A / 75% B over 3 minutes, followed by a 5 minute hold. The column was then equilibrated to initial conditions.

qPCR Assay

To assess the number of methanogens in each treatment, quantitative PCR (qPCR) was performed. DNA was filtered by running 3ml of culture through a .22 μ m Durapore membrane filter (Millipore, Tulagreene, Ireland). DNA was then extracted from filters using the QIAGEN PowerSoil DNA Isolation Kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany). After DNA extraction, DNA was checked for purity and concentration with nandrop and qubit, then diluted 1:100 for qPCR analysis. All samples were run in triplicate, including standard curves and negative controls. Each well included 100 μ M forward primer, 100 μ M reverse primer, SYBR green master mix (Life Technologies), 2 μ I DNA, and the remaining volume nuclease-free water. 96-well plates were then covered with an adhesive cover, and centrifuged for 30 seconds at 2000 RPM (Sorvall Legend XTR,

ThermoScientific). Forward primer Methgen835F-MI2 (5'-

GGGRAGTACGKYCGCAAG-3') and reverse primer Methgen918R-MI2 (5'-

GAVTCCAATTRARCCGCA-3') were obtained from Integrated DNA

Technologies. Data obtained from qPCR (Life Technologies ViiA7,

ThermoFisher) was analyzed for relative cell numbers by previously established methods ³⁵.

Results – Methanol Experiments

Methane Production and Methanol Consumption

In *M. barkeri* cultures supplemented with 5 mM methanol and 5 μ M lower base, we saw no alteration in methane production, or consumption of methanol by cultures amended with DMB, 5Clbza or 5,6Brbza. Relative rate and total methane production remained the same, regardless of treatment group. (Figure 6). Based on these results, it appears that 5 μ M lower base supplementation has no impact on the methanol pathway of methanogenesis in *M. barkeri* cultures.



Figure 6. Methane production and methanol consumption by 5 μ M lower base treatments.

There was no detectable difference in methane production or methanol consumption in culture supplemented with lower bases compared to the control.

HPLC/Corrinoid Extraction Results

In order to determine whether the 5 µM lower base supplemented to *M. barkeri* cultures caused the production of alternative corrinoid structures, corrinoid extraction and HPLC was performed (Figure 7). In the control cultures (A), we observed the production of a single corrinoid at the retention time ~26.5 minutes. In cultures amended with DMB (B), we see the production of a single corrinoid at the same retention time as the control chromatogram. Without further analysis, it is not possible to determine whether or not this corrinoid is the native corrinoid, however, this is the most likely outcome. In cultures amended with 5,6Brbza (C), we observed a peak that eluted at the same time as our control culture, therefore, it is most likely the native corrinoid that was produced in these cultures. Finally, in cultures amended with 5Clbza (D), we observed the production of two distinct corrinoid peaks, once cross-checked with UV Vis spectra. One peak eluted at the same time as the native corrinoid, and the other peak eluted later in the chromatogram. Without further testing, it is impossible to determine whether or not this peak is a corrinoid with the lower base 5Clbza, however, if we did expect this corrinoid to be produced, we would expect it to elute after the native corrinoid on the chromatogram, so this is certainly a possible explanation.

22



Figure 7. Corrinoids produced by cultures amended with $5\mu M$ lower base and 5 mM methanol.

(A) Control, (B) DMB, (C) 5,6Brbza, (D) 5Clbza.

Acetate Results

Methane Production

In *M. barkeri* cultures supplemented with 40 mM acetate and 5 μ M lower base, we saw no difference in methane production in comparison with control cultures. Despite the supplemented lower base, there was no difference in rate or amount of methane produced between treatment (Figure 8). These results are consistent with our findings from the methanol pathway experiment.



Figure 8. Production of methane in cultures grown with acetate. Despite some cultures containing 5 μ M lower base, there was no difference in methane production between the treatments.

HPLC/Corrinoid Extraction

To determine whether the 5 μ M lower base supplemented to *M. barkeri* cultures grown in 40mM acetate caused the production of alternative corrinoid structures, corrinoid extraction and HPLC was performed (Figure 9). In control cultures (A), we observed the production of a single corrinoid at the retention time ~ 26.5 minutes. In cultures amended with DMB (B), we see the production of only one corrinoid at the same retention time as the control chromatogram. Without further analysis, it is impossible to determine whether this corrinoid is the native corrinoid, however, this is the most likely the case. In cultures amended with 5,6Brbza (C), we observed a peak that eluted at the same time as our control culture, therefore, similar to DMB (B) cultures, it is most likely the native corrinoid that was produced in these cultures. Finally, in cultures amended with 5Clbza (D), we observed the production of two individual corrinoid peaks. One peak eluted at the same time as the native corrinoid, and the other peak eluted later in the chromatogram. Without further analysis, it cannot be determined whether or not this peak is a corrinoid with the lower base 5Clbza, however, if we did expect this corrinoid to be produced, we would expect it to elute after the native corrinoid on the chromatogram, so this is certainly a possible explanation.

25



Figure 9. Corrinoids produced by cultures amended with 5 μ M lower base and 40 mM acetate.

(A) Control, (B) DMB, (C) 5,6Brbza, (D) 5Clbza.

CO₂ Results

Methane Production

Much like previous results with 5 μ M lower base supplementation, cultures grown on a combination of CO₂ and H₂ demonstrated no detectable difference in methane production compared to control cultures (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Methane production of cultures grown with CO_2 and $5\mu M$ lower

base.

HPLC/Corrinoid Extraction

Once cultures had reached stationary phase of growth, they were sacrificed to extract corrinoids. Corrinoids were extracted and measured via HPLC to determine whether the native corrinoid was produced by the treatment cultures (Figure 11). In control cultures (A), we observed the production of a single corrinoid at the retention time ~26.5 minutes. In cultures amended with DMB (B), we see the production of a single corrinoid at the same retention time as the control chromatogram at about 26.5 minutes. Without further analysis, we could not determine whether this corrinoid is the native corrinoid, however, this is the most likely the case. In cultures amended with 5,6Brbza (C), we observed a peak that eluted at the same time as our control culture (~26.5 minutes), therefore, similar to DMB (B) cultures, it is most likely the native corrinoid that was produced in these cultures. Finally, in cultures amended with 5Clbza (D), we observed the production of two separate corrinoid peaks. One peak eluted at the same time as the native corrinoid, and the other peak eluted later in the chromatogram. Without further analysis, it cannot be determined whether or not this peak is a corrinoid with the lower base 5Clbza, however, if we did expect this corrinoid to be produced, we would expect it to elute after the native corrinoid on the chromatogram, so this is certainly a possible explanation.



Figure 11. Corrinoids produced in cultures amended with CO₂, H₂ and 5 μ M lower base.

(A) Control, (B) DMB, (C) 5,6Brbza, (D) 5Clbza.

qPCR Results

Once all cultures were grown up, 3 ml of culture was filtered for DNA extraction for qPCR to determine relative quantities of cells within each culture. qPCR was utilized to determine whether any differences in methane production could be attributed to greater quantities of cells in one particular culture (Figure 12). In the methanol experiments, we observed relatively identical quantities of cells in all four treatments. In the acetate experiment, once again, we saw relatively similar numbers of methanogens within each individual treatment. Finally, in the CO₂ and H₂ experiment, we observed very similar quantities of methanogens within each treatment, although there was a slight drop-off in the quantities of cells in the 5,6Brbza cultures. For the most part, the number of cells within each culture, across all three pathways and all four treatments was relatively similar, although there appears to be slightly more in the methanol and acetate experiments compared to the CO₂ experiment. This is not entirely surprising, as the CO₂ cultures appeared less dense than the cultures of the methanol and acetate experiments.



Figure 12. Gene copies per experimental treatment.

Discussion

Despite the investigation of three different potential pathways of methanogenesis, the results across all three experiments remained the same. Overall, when cultures were amended with 5 μ M lower base, there appeared to be no difference in methane production, or abundance of methanogens growing within each individual treatment. However, previous research in bacteria has demonstrated that we can observe changes in microbial activity with supplemented lower bases when they are supplied at 200 μ M concentration ³.Therefore, it is entirely possible that the quantity of lower base supplemented (5 μ M) was much too low to see any sort of effect on the growth or metabolism of the cultures.

To determine whether an elevated concentration of lower base could impact our cultures, we continued the experiments at a concentration of 50 μ M lower base.

CHAPTER THREE DOES 50µM LOWER BASE SUPPLEMENTATION AFFECT METHANOGENESIS?

Materials and Methods

Chemicals

5,6-dimethylbenzimidaole (DMB), 5-chlorobenzimidazole, and 5,6dibromobenzimidazole were purchased from Combi-blocks. Methanol was purchased from Sigma Aldrich.

Cultures

Pure *Methanosarcina barkeri* strain *fusaro* cultures were grown in 160 ml serum bottles with 50 ml of minimal salts medium with a vitamin B₁₂-free vitamin mix. Cultures were grown anoxically with a sodium bicarbonate buffer at pH 7.2 and 37 degrees Celsius. Minimal salt media is composed of (g/L): 1 g NaCl, 0.5 g MgCl₂ x H₂O, 0.2 g KH₂PO₄, 0.3 g NH₄Cl, 0.3 g KCl, 0.015 g CaCl₂ x 2H₂O. Trace element solution (per liter): 10 ml HCl (25% solution w/w), 1.5 g FeCl₂ x 4 H₂O, 0.19 g CoCl₂ x 6H₂O, 0.1 g MnCl₂ x 4 H₂O, 70 mg ZnCl₂, 6 mg H₃BO₃, 36 mg Na₂MoO₄ x 2 H₂O, 24 mg NiCl₂ x 6 H₂O, 2 mg CuCl₂ x 2 H₂O. Vitamin solution contains (mg/L): 0.02 biotin, 0.02 folic acid, 0.1 pyroxidine hydrochloride, 0.05 riboflavin, 0.05 thiamine, 0.05 nicotinic acid, 0.05 pantothenic acid, 0.05 *p*aminobenzoic acid, and 0.05 thioctic acid. Se/Wo solution includes (per L): 6 mg Na₂SeO₃ x 5 H₂O, 8 mg Na₂WO₄ x H₂O and 0.5 g NaOH. Gas phase was composed of H₂ and CO₂ (90/10). 0.1% resazurin solution was added at 0.25 ml/L medium. 30 mM sodium bicarbonate, 2 mM L-cysteine monohydrate and 0.048 g/L Sodium sulfide x 9H₂O were added. Either 40 mM acetate or 5mM methanol was added as electron donor. Sterile-filtered lower bases were added to a final concentration of 50 μ M. Treatments were set up in triplicates and included:

- (1) Control (no lower base added)(5OHbza)
- (2) 5,6-dibromobenzimidazole (5,6Brbza)
- (3) 5-chlorobenzimidazole (5Clbza)
- (4) 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole (DMB)

Methane Measurements

Methane production was measured at regular intervals with an Agilent 7890 gas chromatograph equipped with FID (flame ionization detector) and DB-624 capillary column (60 m x 0.32 mm x 1.8 μ m). 100 μ l headspace samples were withdrawn using disposable syringes and manually injected into a split injector with a split ratio of 2:1. The GC inlet was maintained at 200 °C, and the GC oven temperature was kept at 60 °C for 2 min then increased to 200 °C at a rate of 25 °C min–1, and the FID detector was operated at 280 °C as described as described by ³³.

Cells were harvested to extract corrinoids and determine which corrinoids were produced by methanogens when supplemented with lower bases. The procedure was carried out as described by ³⁴. Cultures were centrifuged (Thermo Scientific sorcall Rc 6+) at 10,000RPM for 20 minutes at 4 degrees C. Supernatants were removed, and cell pellets were re-suspended in 5 ml deionized water. pH was then adjusted to 5-6 with 3% glacial acetic acid and 10 mM KCN, and boiled for 20 min in a water bath. Following the water bath, cultures were centrifuged again for 20 minutes at 10,000 RPM. Supernatants were collected, and cell pellet was extracted again. Supernatant fluids were combined and mixed with 0.01 volumes of acetic acid, then loaded into Sep-Pak C18 cartridges. Cartridges were first equilibrated with 2 ml of pure methanol and 60ml deionized water. Supernatant was pushed through column, and corrinoids were collected by washing the column with 3ml pure methanol, and collecting the pink-colored fluid to be vacuum dried. After vacuum drying was complete, samples were resuspended in 0.5 ml sterile deionized water in preparation for HPLC analysis.

HPLC Analysis

Analysis of corrinoids was performed with an Agilent 1200 series HPLC system equipped with an Eclipse XDB-C18 column (5 mm, 4.6 × 250 mm) and a diode array detector set at a detection wavelength of 361 nm. Samples were injected and separated at a flow rate of 1 mL per min at 30°C using 0.1% (v/v) formic acid (\geq 88%, w/v) in water (eluent A) and 0.1% (v/v) formic acid in methanol (eluent B) as mobile phases. The column was equilibrated with 82% eluent A / 18% eluent B, and a linear change to 75% A / 25% B was applied after sample injection over a time period of 12 minutes. Eluent composition then

35

decreased immediately to 25% A / 75% B over 3 minutes, followed by a 5 minute hold. The column was then equilibrated to initial conditions.

Methanol Results

Methane Production

In M. *barkeri* cultures supplemented with 50 µM lower base, we saw a difference in the rate and total quantity of methane production between treatments. The cultures amended with 50 µM synthetic lower bases (5-chlorobenzimidazole and 5,6-Dibromobenzimidazole) saw slower rates of initial methane production, as well as lower total volume of methane produced (Figure 15). Control treatments were not amended with any lower base. Therefore, the control cultures were required to synthesize their native lower base, 5OHbza. 50 µM lower base supplementation of DMB, a naturally occurring lower base, had little to no impact on rate or total quantity of methane produced compared to the control. 5Clbza supplementation led to a slower initial rate of methane produce roughly equivalent amounts of methane compared to the control. However, the 5,6Brbza treatment appears to have severely impeded methanogenesis, as very little methane was produced over the course of the entire experiment.



Figure 13. Methane Production in Methanol and 50 μ M Lower Base.

Corrinoid Analysis

HPLC was used to determine whether *M. barkeri* cultures amended with 50 μ M lower bases produced their native corrinoid, a different corrinoid, or a combination of the two. In the case of our control cultures, not amended with any lower base, we observed a corrinoid peak at a retention time ~21.5 minutes, with a corresponding UV-Vis peak at 361 nm, suggesting the presence of a corrinoid (Figure 16). When the control (A) HPLC chromatogram is compared with the two cultures amended with 50 µM synthetic lower bases (5,6-dibromobenzimidazole (B) and 5-chlorobenzimidazole (C)), they also contain a peak, with UV-Vis peaks suggesting the presence of a corrinoid eluting at the same time as the native corrinoid would be expected to elute. In 5-Chlorobenzimidazole (C) cultures, we observed two potential corrinoid peaks. One has the same retention time as the native corrinoid, while the other, larger peak suggests the presence of a corrinoid other than the native. This data suggests that *M. barkeri* cultures were able to take up 5-chlorobenzimidazole, as well as activate the lower base and incorporate it into a corrinoid. The apparent mixture of corrinoids presents an interesting question: Does the appearance of some native corrinoid explain the ability of the culture to still produce some methane, although not nearly as much as the control cultures?



Figure 14. (A) control, (B) 5,6-diBrbza, (C) 5-Clbza, (D) DMB.

In the 5,6-dibromobenzimidazole cultures, we observed a similar phenomenon. A corrinoid elutes at the same time as the native corrinoid would be expected. There is also the presence of a much smaller potential corrinoid peak later on in the chromatogram. This evidence suggests the production of both a native corrinoid, and a new corrinoid from the supplemented lower base. This, once again, begs the question: is the presence of the native corrinoid responsible for the small amount of methane that the culture was able to produce?

In the case of 5,6-dimethylbenzimidazole, a naturally occurring (but not produced by methanogens) corrinoid, we observed measurable difference in methane production from the control. Upon HPLC analysis of corrinoids in the cultures, we saw a mixed production of corrinoids. There is a peak in the HPLC chromatogram that suggests the presence/production of the native corrinoid, as well as the presence of a B12 Corrinoid.

Acetate Results

Methane Production

Cultures grown with 40 mM acetate and various lower base supplements were monitored for methane production over time to determine whether lower base supplementation may impact methanogenesis (Figure 15).



Figure 15. Methane production in cultures amended with 40mM acetate and

50 μM lower base.

Cultures amended with DMB showed methane production nearly identical to control treatments. However, in the treatments supplied synthetic lower bases (5,6Brbza and 5Clbza), there are marked differences in methane production throughout the course of the experiment. In the 5Clbza treatments, initial methane production over the first few days keeps pace with the control treatments. After day 5, Clbza treatments rate of methane production slows in comparison to control cultures, and does not catch up throughout the remainder of the experiment, eventually producing only about half as much methane in comparison to control treatments. We observed a similar phenomenon in cultures amended with 5,6Brbza. 5,6Brbza treatments kept pace with control treatments from day 0-3, but after day 4, there were obvious differences in methane production that continued through the course of the experiment. When the experiment was finished, 5,6Brbza treatments only produced only about a third of the overall methane that was produced by control treatments.

Corrinoid Analysis

To determine whether or not *M. barkeri* treatment cultures were able to activate and incorporate the supplemented lower bases into a corrinoid produced by the organism, corrinoids were extracted from cultures and separated with HPLC (Figure 16).



Figure 16. HPLC Chromatograms of (A) Control, (B) DMB, (C) 5Clbza and (D)

5,6Brbza treatments.

In chromatogram (A), we observed the elution of the native corrinoid at ~21.5 minutes (red arrow), and a UV Vis peak of 361nm, indicating that the peak we observed corresponds to a corrinoid. In DMB treated cultures (B), the chromatogram presented two different peaks with UV Vis peaks of 361nm. This indicated the presence of two different corrinoids in the sample. Based on the elution time of the first peak (21.5 minutes), it is likely the native corrinoid (factor III). The other peak (circled in grey) eluted at ~27.5 minutes, and is likely B12 corrinoid, based on standards previously run. DMB is the lower base of B12 corrinoid, which would indicate that *M. barkeri* culture supplemented with DMB are able to activate DMB and produce B12. In 5Clbza treatments (C), we observed chromatograms similar to DMB treatments. There was a corrinoid peak in the chromatogram at 21.5 minutes, suggesting the cultures still produced their native corrinoid. However, there was a second corrinoid peak later in the chromatogram at ~24 minutes. In the 5,6Brbza treatments (D), there were no observable corrinoids, most likely due to the low culture volume and poor growth of these cultures. There was a tiny peak at the time point we would expect the native corrinoid to elute, however, the volume was too small to be cross-checked with UV Vis.

Discussion

The 50 uM lower base experiments have presented the most interesting results of the project thus far for several reasons:

- A noticeable difference in methane production in cultures treated with certain lower bases
- The production of foreign corrinoids confirmed with HPLC in cultures treated with certain lower bases.

Treatments of *M. barkeri* cultures with another naturally-occurring lower base, DMB, proved ineffective at altering methane production. However, it is interesting to note that *M. barkeri* cultures appear able to activate and utilize this lower base to continue normal metabolic activity, ie. Methanogenesis. Perhaps more interesting, is the cultures amended with the synthetic lower bases 5Clbza and 5,6Brbza. Cultures amended with these lower bases demonstrated greatly reduced methanogenesis activity. In the case of 5Clbza treatments, we observed about half the amount of methane production, as well as the assembly of two different corrinoids. Most interestingly, these cultures appeared to produce a greater quantity foreign of corrinoids than the native corrinoid, factor III. Unfortunately, 5,6Brbza treatments inhibited methanogenesis to the point that very little methane production or culture growth was observed, leading to inconclusive HPLC results. Due to the low culture volume, we are unable to determine the quantities and types of corrinoids produced by the 5,6Brbza treatments.

CHAPTER FOUR CONCLUSION

The high global warming potential of methane, combined with human activity directly attributed to increased methane production warrants further research on methanogens, the microbes that produce methane. Due to the great diversity of methanogenic archaea, it is critical that research in methanogenic activity be applicable across all species of methanogens. A dependence on a corrinoid cofactor to perform the methyl transfer step required before the final reduction of the compound to methane is conserved across all methanogen species, making it an attractive target for researchers interested in manipulating methanogenic activity.

Previous work in bacteria demonstrated that corrinoid mediated processes, such as methyl transfers, are directly influenced by the structure of the corrinoid cofactor^{1; 2; 3}. Therefore, corrinoid cofactors represent a promising target for those who chose to investigate methanogenic activity as well. Our research has provided the foundation for further investigation into methanogenic preference of corrinoid structure. It has been demonstrated that supplementing at least 50 μ M of lower base to a pure culture may impact methanogenic activity, although much remains to be determined about how this mechanism may occur.

At this point, we can proceed with more detailed experiments regarding the isolation and characterization of the other corrinoids produced in pure *M. barkeri* cultures grown with other lower bases. Upon confirmation that these lower bases are in fact incorporated into another corrinoid being utilized by the

46

methanogen, it would be appropriate to expand these experiments into mixed cultures. One culture of interest may be rumen fluid, as the agricultural industry would be a potential target for this type of remediation. Ultimately, further studies on this topic may lead to potential applications for reducing methanogenic activity, and therefore, reducing the production of greenhouse gasses directly related to human activity.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- MOK, K. C.; TAGA, M. E. Growth inhibition of Sporomusa ovata by incorporation of benzimidazole bases into cobamides. J Bacteriol, v. 195, n. 9, p. 1902-11, May 2013. ISSN 1098-5530. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23417488 >.
- YAN, J. et al. The corrinoid cofactor of reductive dehalogenases affects dechlorination rates and extents in organohalide-respiring Dehalococcoides mccartyi. **ISME J**, v. 10, n. 5, p. 1092-101, May 2016. ISSN 1751-7370. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26555247 >.
- ³ _____. The corrinoid cofactor of reductive dehalogenases affects dechlorination rates and extents in organohalide-respiring Dehalococcoides mccartyi. **ISME J**, v. 10, n. 5, p. 1092-1101, 05//print 2016. ISSN 1751-7362. Disponível em: < http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2015.197 >.
- RENZ, P. Riboflavin as precursor in the biosynthesis of the 5,6 Dimethylbenzimidazole-moiety of vitamin B12. FEBS Letters, v. 6, n. 3, p. 187-189, 1970/02/16 1970. ISSN 0014-5793. Disponível em: < http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0014579370800539 >.

⁵ MATTHEWS, R. G. Cobalamin- and corrinoid-dependent enzymes. Met lons Life Sci, v. 6, p. 53-114, 2009. ISSN 1559-0836 (Print) 1559-0836.

- ABELSON, P. H. Inefficient remediation of ground-water pollution.
 Science, v. 250, n. 4982, p. 733, Nov 1990. ISSN 0036-8075. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2237418 >.
- ⁷ MAYMÓ-GATELL, X. et al. Isolation of a bacterium that reductively dechlorinates tetrachloroethene to ethene. Science, v. 276, n. 5318, p. 1568-71, Jun 1997. ISSN 0036-8075. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9171062 >.
- ⁸ HE, J. et al. Detoxification of vinyl chloride to ethene coupled to growth of an anaerobic bacterium. Nature, v. 424, n. 6944, p. 62-5, Jul 2003. ISSN 1476-4687. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12840758 >.
- ⁹ YI, S. et al. Versatility in corrinoid salvaging and remodeling pathways supports corrinoid-dependent metabolism in Dehalococcoides mccartyi. Appl Environ Microbiol, v. 78, n. 21, p. 7745-52, Nov 2012. ISSN 1098-5336. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22923412 >.

- ¹⁰ HUG, L. A. et al. Overview of organohalide-respiring bacteria and a proposal for a classification system for reductive dehalogenases. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, v. 368, n. 1616, p. 20120322, Apr 2013. ISSN 1471-2970. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23479752 >.
- ROTH, J. R.; LAWRENCE, J. G.; BOBIK, T. A. Cobalamin (coenzyme B12): synthesis and biological significance. Annu Rev Microbiol, v. 50, p. 137-81, 1996. ISSN 0066-4227 (Print)
- 0066-4227.
- YAN, J. et al. Unexpected specificity of interspecies cobamide transfer from Geobacter spp. to organohalide-respiring Dehalococcoides mccartyi strains. **Appl Environ Microbiol**, v. 78, n. 18, p. 6630-6, Sep 2012. ISSN 1098-5336. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22773645 >.
- ¹³ MEN, Y. et al. Identification of specific corrinoids reveals corrinoid modification in dechlorinating microbial communities. **Environ Microbiol**, v. 17, n. 12, p. 4873-84, Dec 2015. ISSN 1462-2920. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24803319 >.
- ¹⁴ EPA, U. S. Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990–2014: EPA 430-R-16-002 2016.
- ¹⁵ FERRY, J. G. *Methanogenesis: ecology, physiology, biochemistry & genetics*: Springer Science & Business Media 2012.
- MARTENS, J. H. et al. Microbial production of vitamin B12. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol, v. 58, n. 3, p. 275-85, Mar 2002. ISSN 0175-7598. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11935176 >.
- ¹⁷ GRUBER, K.; PUFFER, B.; KRÄUTLER, B. Vitamin B12-derivativesenzyme cofactors and ligands of proteins and nucleic acids. Chem Soc Rev, v. 40, n. 8, p. 4346-63, Aug 2011. ISSN 1460-4744. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21687905 >.
- ¹⁸ FINKELSTEIN, J. D. Methionine metabolism in mammals. **The Journal of nutritional biochemistry**, v. 1, n. 5, p. 228-237, 1990. ISSN 0955-2863.
- ¹⁹ GELFAND, D. A. R. et al. Comparative Genomics of the Vitamin B12 Metabolism and Regulation in Prokaryotes. 2003-10-17 2003. Disponível em: < http://www.jbc.org/content/278/42/41148.long >.

- ZHANG, Y. et al. Comparative genomic analyses of nickel, cobalt and vitamin B12 utilization. BMC Genomics, v. 10, n. 1, p. 78, 2009. ISSN 1471-2164. Disponível em: < http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-10-78 >.
- DEGNAN, P. H. et al. Human gut microbes use multiple transporters to distinguish vitamin B₁₂ analogs and compete in the gut. Cell Host Microbe, v. 15, n. 1, p. 47-57, Jan 2014. ISSN 1934-6069. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24439897 >.
- ALBERT, M. J.; MATHAN, V. I.; BAKER, S. J. Vitamin B12 synthesis by human small intestinal bacteria. **Nature**, v. 283, n. 5749, p. 781-2, Feb 1980. ISSN 0028-0836. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7354869 >.
- ²³ GIANNELLA, R. A.; BROITMAN, S. A.; ZAMCHECK, N. Vitamin B12 uptake by intestinal microorganisms: mechanism and relevance to syndromes of intestinal bacterial overgrowth. J Clin Invest, v. 50, n. 5, p. 1100-7, May 1971. ISSN 0021-9738. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4994753 >.
- KRÄUTLER, B. Vitamin B12: chemistry and biochemistry. Biochem Soc Trans, v. 33, n. Pt 4, p. 806-10, Aug 2005. ISSN 0300-5127. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16042603 >.
- FISCHBACH, M. A.; SONNENBURG, J. L. Eating for two: how metabolism establishes interspecies interactions in the gut. Cell Host Microbe, v. 10, n. 4, p. 336-47, Oct 2011. ISSN 1934-6069. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22018234 >.
- ROTH, J. R.; LAWRENCE, J. G.; BOBIK, T. A. Cobalamin (coenzyme B12): synthesis and biological significance. Annu Rev Microbiol, v. 50, 1996. Disponível em: < http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.50.1.137
 >.
- ²⁷ WARREN, M. J. et al. The biosynthesis of adenosylcobalamin (vitamin B12). Nat Prod Rep, v. 19, 2002. Disponível em: < http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/b108967f >.
- DEGNAN, PATRICK H. et al. Human Gut Microbes Use Multiple Transporters to Distinguish Vitamin B12 Analogs and Compete in the Gut.
 Cell Host & Microbe, v. 15, n. 1, p. 47-57, 1/15/ 2014. ISSN 1931-3128. Disponível em: < http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S193131281300440X >.

- ²⁹ GRAY, M. J.; ESCALANTE-SEMERENA, J. C. The cobinamide amidohydrolase (cobyric acid-forming) CbiZ enzyme: a critical activity of the cobamide remodelling system of Rhodobacter sphaeroides. **Molecular Microbiology,** v. 74, n. 5, p. 1198-1210, 2009. ISSN 1365-2958. Disponível em: < http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06928.x >.
- ³⁰ MAYMÓ-GATELL, X. et al. Isolation of a Bacterium That Reductively Dechlorinates Tetrachloroethene to Ethene. **Science,** v. 276, n. 5318, p. 1568-1571, 1997.
- ³¹ TAGA, S. Y. et al. Versatility in Corrinoid Salvaging and Remodeling Pathways Supports Corrinoid-Dependent Metabolism in Dehalococcoides mccartyi. 2012-11-01 2012. Disponível em: < http://aem.asm.org/content/78/21/7745.long >.
- ³² STABLER, R. H. A.; SALLY, P. Identification and quantitation of cobalamin and cobalamin analogues in human feces. 2008-05-01 2008. Disponível em: < http://ajcn.nutrition.org/content/87/5/1324.long >.
- ³³ SUNG, Y. et al. Quantitative PCR confirms purity of strain GT, a novel trichloroethene-to-ethene-respiring Dehalococcoides isolate. **Appl Environ Microbiol**, v. 72, n. 3, p. 1980-7, Mar 2006. ISSN 0099-2240. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16517646 >.
- ³⁴ YAN, J. et al. Guided cobalamin biosynthesis supports Dehalococcoides mccartyi reductive dechlorination activity. **Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci,** v. 368, n. 1616, p. 20120320, Apr 2013. ISSN 1471-2970. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23479750 >.
- ³⁵ RITALAHTI, K. M. et al. Quantitative PCR targeting 16S rRNA and reductive dehalogenase genes simultaneously monitors multiple Dehalococcoides strains. **Appl Environ Microbiol**, v. 72, n. 4, p. 2765-74, Apr 2006. ISSN 0099-2240. Disponível em: < https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16597981 >.

Amanda was born in Dallas, TX to parents Desiree and Tony DeVolk. Upon graduating from Frisco Liberty High School in 2011, she attended Rutgers University. At Rutgers, Amanda studied Genetics and Spanish while playing soccer for the Lady Scarlet Knights. Amanda graduated from Rutgers University with her bachelor's degree in Genetics in 2015. Following her undergraduate education, she pursued graduate studies at the University of Tennessee. In Knoxville, Amanda met her husband, Chris Kennedy, whom she married in May of 2018. Amanda defended her master's thesis in Genome Science and Technology in August of 2018, and officially graduated from the University of Tennessee in December of 2018.